
STRATEGIC HOUSING PANEL
AGENDA

Venue: Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ 

Date: Thursday, 23rd March, 2017
Time: 10.00 am
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby                  Tel: 01946 598328

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items 

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 15 December 2016 1 - 2

4. Private Sector Housing Condition Survey 2016 3 - 20

5. Performance Update 21 - 24

6. Empty Homes Initiative update 25 - 26

7. Copeland Community Led Housing Initiative 27 - 30

8. Copeland Housing Strategy - verbal Update 

Membership: Councillors Denise Burness, John Dirom, Neil Ferguson (Deputy Chair), 
Linda Jones-Bulman (Chair), John Kane, Charles Maudling and Andy Pratt

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



STRATEGIC HOUSING PANEL

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2016

Present: Councillors Linda Jones-Bulman, in the Chair; Denise Burness and Neil Ferguson.

Officers: Julie Betteridge (Director of Customer and Community Services) and Clive 
Willoughby (Member Services Technical Support Officer & Interim Scrutiny Officer).

SHP13Apologies for Absence 

There were no apologies for absence.

SHP14Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items 

There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

SHP15Minutes of the meeting held on 29 September 2016 

RESOLVED - That the minutes of the meeting held on 29 September 2016 be signed by the 
Chair as a correct record.

SHP16Housing Strategy Delivery and Performance 

The Director of Customer and Community Services provided the Panel with an update on 
Housing Strategy, including Partnership working, Supporting People and Housing Growth.
Members were advised that an item on the Stock Condition Survey, would be on the Agenda 
for the next meeting.
Members were also advised that the new Housing Strategy was being worked to.

RESOLVED: That the update be received. 

SHP17Housing and Social Inclusion 

Members were advised that the Council were working with NuGen on housing requirements 
and it was suggested that Ailsa Brierley be invited to the next meeting of this Panel.

Members enquired regarding the number of refugees being house in Copeland and were 
advised that three families per year were to be housed in temporary accommodation.

A copy of the Housing Performance Key achievements Q3 document was shared with 
Member.

RESOLVED: That 
a) the update be received, and
b) Ailsa Brierley be invited to the next meeting of this Panel.

a Disabled Facilities Grants update 

Members were advised that the Private Sector Team had received 116 new referrals for DFGs 
and approved 64 major adaptation cases since April 2016. They had received 96% positive 
customer feedback on their standard services.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Through the intervention of the DFG they were the first in Cumbria to have moved a family in 
an inadequate property to a fully adapted one.

RESOLVED: That the update be received.

b Homelessness update 

Members were advised that the Housing Options Team had prevented 19 families since April 
2016 from being homeless, through their Rent Deposit Scheme.
In the same period, the team had helped 26 women to access other services and to help them 
to move to accommodation. The team had also interviewed 86 customers in need of help and 
advice since April 2016.

RESOLVED: That the update be received.

SHP18Growth 

a Empty Homes Initiative Progress 

The Panel was advised that through having the new post of an Empty Properties Officer, 6 
properties had been brought back into use. Advice to homeowners on VAT exemptions for 
repair costs had also been given.

It was noted that a progress update will be provided at the next meeting 

RESOLVED: That the update be received.

SHP19Date and Time of Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Strategic Housing Panel will be held on Thursday 23 March 2016 at 
10.00am (Venue to be advised).

The Meeting closed at 10.45 am 

Chair

Page 2



COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL 

PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING CONDITION SURVEY 
2016

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

Prepared on behalf of:
COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCL 

By: 

David Adamson & Partners Ltd. 
32 Rutland Square

Edinburgh
EH1 2BW

File Ref: E2611

January 2017

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 1

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

1. SURVEY BACKGROUND

1.1 David Adamson and Partners Ltd were commissioned by Copeland Borough Council to complete 

a review of housing and household conditions across the private housing sector.  The last survey 

of housing conditions was completed in 2012.  Information from the current study provides an up-

to-date benchmark for private sector housing locally against national housing conditions and 

provides a base of information for the review and further development of private sector housing 

strategies.   

1.2 The 2016 study has involved a comprehensive survey programme across a sample size of 750 

dwellings representing just less than 3% of all private dwellings in Copeland.  Survey investigation 

has included physical housing conditions (HHSRS and Decent Homes), energy efficiency 

(RDSAP) and the circumstances and attitudes of occupying households.     

1.3 The house condition survey programme was designed and implemented according to national 

guidelines issued by the Department for Communities and Local Government in England.  To 

adequately reflect the distribution and composition of private sector housing the sample of 750 

dwellings was stratified by seven housing market sub-areas and these are combined into three 

larger housing market areas (HMAs).  This stratification will allow detailed reporting in each of the 

three HMAs and key indicator reporting in the seven housing market sub-areas.

SAMPLE STRUCTURE
HOUSING STOCK ACHIEVED SAMPLEHOUSING MARKET SUB-AREAs & 

HMAs Dwgs Dwgs %
Whitehaven Area 9323 150 1.6
Whitehaven Rural Parishes 5860 100 1.7
Cleator Moor 2463 98 4.0
Egremont 3108 108 3.5
WHITEHAVEN HMA 20754 456 2.2
West Lakes - LDNPA 2036 100 4.9
West Lakes - Copeland 1839 102 5.5
WEST LAKES HMA 3875 202 5.2
Millom 3112 99 3.2
MILLOM HMA 3112 99 3.2
TOTAL ALL AREAS 27741 757 2.7

1.4 Against the survey target of 750 dwellings, surveys were achieved in 757 dwellings slightly over 

the target.  Information from surveyed dwellings has been weighted statistically to represent total 

private sector housing stock in Copeland.   

2. PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING STOCK

2.1 Copeland Borough Council area contains a private sector housing stock of 27,741 dwellings.  At 

the time of survey 25,438 dwellings were occupied (91.7%), the remaining 2,303 dwellings (8.3%) 

Page 4



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 2

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

were vacant.  The majority of vacant dwellings (1,906 dwellings – 6.9%) have been vacant under 

6 months and are expected to return to occupancy in the short-term.  397 dwellings (1.4%) were 

estimated to have been vacant over 6 months.  

91.7%

6.9%
1.4%

Occupied (25,438
dwellings)

Vacant Short-term (1,906
dwellings)

Vacant Long-term (397
dwellings)

HOUSING OCCUPANCY

2.2 There is significant variation in the proportion of vacant dwellings across the three HMAs; within 

the Whitehaven and Millom HMAs approximately 93% of properties are occupied compared to 

just 84% in the West Lakes HMA. 

93
84

92.9

6
12.8

5.1
1 3.2 2

Whitehaven West Lakes Millom
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Occupied Vacant Short-term Vacant Long-term

VACANCY RATES BY HMA

2.3 The age of a home is strongly associated with its condition and energy performance.  The oldest 

homes (pre-1919) generally perform less well in these respects than newer homes.  Private sector 

housing in Copeland is representative of all building eras but predominantly of post Second World 

War construction.  7,906 dwellings (28.5%) were constructed pre-1945.  Within this group, 6,814 

dwellings (24.6%) were constructed pre-1919, 1,092 dwellings (3.9%) in the inter-war period 

Page 5



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 3

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

(1919-1944).  19,835 dwellings (71.5%) were constructed post-1944.  Within this group 5,198 

dwellings (18.7%) are post-1980 construction.  Private sector housing stock in Copeland is 

younger than the national profile.   

18.7

27.0

25.8

3.9

24.6

22.6

19.6

17.8

17.7

22.2

Post-1980

1965-1980

1945-1964

1919-1944

Pre-1919

ENGLAND

COPELAND

HOUSING AGE DISTRIBUTIONS - COPELAND 2016 /ENGLAND 2014/15

% of dwellings

2.4 Significant variations in housing age exist across the Council area which may impact on 

differential rates of housing condition.  The oldest housing profiles are associated with the Millom 

HMA (68.7% pre-1945 construction) and West Lakes HMA (42.0% pre-1945).   Conversely, in 

Whitehaven HMA 80% of all private sector dwellings are of post 1944 construction.   

20
42

68.7

80
58

31.3

Whitehaven West Lakes Millom
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Pre-1945 Post 1944

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION BY HMA

Page 6



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 4

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

2.5 Owner-occupation is the predominant form of private sector tenure accounting for 23,209 

dwellings or 83.7%; 4,532 dwellings (16.3%) are rented privately or are tied/rent free properties.  

Rates of private rental in Copeland are below the national average (23.7% of private dwellings 

nationally in 2014/15).  

23,209
dwellings

-83.7%

4,532
dwellings

-16.3% Owner occupied

Private rented /
Tied

HOUSING TENURE

2.6 Significant national growth in private rental has been recorded since 2003, overtaking in size the 

social rented sector for the first time in 2012-13.  Increases nationally have been related to the 

removal of rent controls, the introduction of assured short-hold tenancies, the growth in buy-to-

let and the shortage of affordable properties for purchase.  

2.7 Highest rates of private rental are associated with the West Lakes – LDNP, Millom and Egremont 

housing market sub-areas.    

Page 7



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 5

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

3.1

10.0

14.7

16.3

21.0

23.1

24.2

27.0

Cleator Moor

Whitehaven Area

West Lakes - Copeland

COPELAND

Whitehaven Rural
Parishes

Egremont

Millom

West Lakes - LDNP

RATES OF PRIVATE RENTAL BY HOUSING MARKET
SUB-AREA

% of dwellings

2.8 Private sector housing is predominantly of two-storey detached, semi-detached and terraced 

configuration.  Houses and bungalows comprise 26,155 dwellings (94.3%) with the remaining 

1,586 dwellings (5.7%) in flats.

2.9 Significant differences in housing age and type exist between the owner occupied and private 

rented sectors.  In this respect the private rented sector exhibits a concentration in the terraced 

and flat sectors whilst two thirds of owner occupied dwellings are either semi-detached or 

detached houses/bungalows.  

3. PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSEHOLDS

3.1 The private sector housing stock contains 25,439 households and a household population of 

56,098 persons.    Private sector households are typically small in size.  7,132 households (28%) 

are single person in size; an additional 11,252 households (44.2%) contain two persons.  Average 

household size is estimated at 2.21 persons.  

3.2 Private sector households exhibit an ageing demographic profile.  9,726 households (38.2%) are 

headed by a person aged 65 years and over, an additional 4,070 households (16%) are headed 

by a person aged 55-64 years.  

Page 8



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 6

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

38.2

16.0

17.8

14.3

12.7

1.1

65 years+

55-64 years

45-54 years

35-44 years

25-34 years

Under 25 years

AGE OF HEAD OF HOUSEHOLD

% of households

3.3 Demographic characteristics are reflected in the composition of private sector households.  4,970 

households (19.5%) contain a single person aged 60 years and over, 5,123 households (20.1%) 

contain a married/co-habiting couple with no dependent children where the head of household is 

aged 65 or over.   

2.9

4.2

8.5

19.4

19.5

45.4

Other multi person household

Lone parent family

One person under 60

Married / cohabiting with dependent
children

One person 60 or over

Married / cohabiting no dependent
children

THE COMPOSITION OF PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSEHOLDS

% of households

3.4 Significant demographic differences exist between tenures reflecting a younger more mobile 

private rented sector against an established owner occupied sector: 

Page 9



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 7

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

 41.7% of owner occupied households have a head of household aged 65 years and over; 

34% of private rented households are headed by a person aged 34 years or younger;

 30.4% of private rented households contain a single person aged under 60 years and 

20.5% are lone parent families; and

 41.3% of private rented households have been resident in their home under 2 years; 48% 

of owner occupied households have been resident over 20 years

3.5 13,759 heads of household (54.1%) are in full or part-time employment, 245 heads of household 

(1.0%) are unemployed and 10,415 heads of household (40.9%) are economically retired. 

4.0%

40.9%

1.0%

54.1%

Other Inactive

Retired

Unemployed

Employed

ECONOMIC STATUS OF HEAD OF HOUSEHOLD

3.6 4,183 households (16.4%) are in receipt of means tested or disability related benefits and are 

economically vulnerable.  Median household income (before housing costs) is estimated at 

£28,600.  Median equivalised after housing cost income as applied in current fuel poverty 

methodologies is estimated at £23,938.  Working again within the fuel poverty methodology 

households on low incomes are regarded as those with incomes of less than 60 per cent of the 

median UK equivalised after housing cost income.  On this definition 4,317 private sector 

households in Copeland are on low incomes representing 17% of all relevant households.  

Page 10



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 8

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

21,122
hholds -

83%

4,317
hholds -

17%
Not on Low
Income

On Low Income

LOW INCOME HOUSEHOLDS

3.7 Economic circumstances vary between the owner occupied and private rented sectors, the former 

exhibiting higher levels of retirement, the latter exhibiting higher levels of unemployment and 

economic vulnerability.  Median equivalised (AHC) household incomes are higher in the owner 

occupied sector at £25,690 compared to £15,698 for private rented households.  51% of private 

rented households are on low incomes compared to 11.4% of owner occupied households.  

4. HOUSING CONDITIONS 2016 – OCCUPIED HOUSING STOCK

4.1 Housing conditions against national standards can only be measured fully within the occupied 

housing stock.  

4.2 21,567 occupied dwellings (84.8%) meet the requirements of the Decent Homes Standard and 

can be regarded as satisfactory.  The remaining 3,871 dwellings (15.2%) fail the requirements of 

the Decent Homes Standard and are non-decent.  Within the Decent Homes Standard itself the 

following pattern of failure emerges: 

 1,927 dwellings (7.6%) exhibit Category 1 hazards within the Housing Health and Safety 

Rating System (HHSRS);

 1,631 dwellings (6.4%) are in disrepair;

 261 dwellings (1%) lack modern facilities and services; and

 1,648 dwellings (6.5%) fail to provide a reasonable degree of thermal comfort. 

The majority of non-decent dwellings fail on one item of the Standard (2,507 dwellings – 64.7%), 

the remaining 1,364 dwellings (35.3%) exhibit multiple failures.  

Page 11



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 9

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

4.3 Information available from the English Housing Survey 2014/15 enables housing conditions in 

Copeland to be placed in a national context.  Housing conditions locally with regard to the Decent 

Homes Standard are slightly better than the national average.  Locally, 15.2% of private sector 

housing fails the Decent Homes Standard compared to 21.0% of private sector housing 

nationally.  

21

15.2

ENGLAND 2015 COPELAND 2016
0

5

10

15

20

25

NON-DECENT HOMES - NATIONAL PERSPECTIVE

6. THE DISTRIBUTION OF NON-DECENT HOMES 

6.1 Housing conditions vary across Copeland by housing sector and area.  These variations in 

Decent Homes performance reflect significantly higher rates of non-decency for: 

 Terraced housing (26.8%);

 The private rented sector (23.5%); and

 Dwellings constructed pre-1919 (41.0%)

At an area level above average rates of non-decency are recorded in Millom HMA (31.5%), the 

West Lakes - LDNP sub-area (26.8%), Whitehaven Rural Parishes (22%) and West Lakes - 

Copeland sub-area (19.3%).

  

Page 12



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 10

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

NON-DECENT HOMES BY AREA AND HOUSING SECTOR (Occupied Housing) 
TOTAL

HOUSING
STOCK

NON-DECENT HOMESAREA/
SECTOR

Dwgs Dwgs %

HOUSING MARKET SUB-AREAS 
Whitehaven Area 8204 622 7.6
Whitehaven Rural Parishes 5860 1289 22.0
Cleator Moor 2262 151 6.7
Egremont 2964 144 4.9
WHITEHAVEN HMA 19290 2205 11.4
West Lakes - LDNPA 1670 448 26.8
West Lakes - Copeland 1587 306 19.3
WEST LAKES HMA 3256 754 23.2
Millom 2892 912 31.5
MILLOM HMA 2892 912 31.5
TENURE
Owner occupied 21840 3026 13.9
Private rented 3598 846 23.5
HOUSE TYPE
Terraced house/bungalow 8815 2365 26.8
Semi-detached house/bungalow 9962 959 9.6
Detached house/bungalow 5482 548 10.0
Purpose built flat 903 0 0.0
Other flat 276 0 0.0
DATE OF CONSTRUCTION 
Pre 1919 5801 2378 41.0
1919 – 1944 1033 20 2.0
1945 – 1964 6546 919 14.0
1965 – 1974 5819 244 4.2
1975 – 1980 1207 175 14.4
Post 1980 5032 137 2.7
ALL AREAS/SECTORS 25438 3871 15.2

4.9

6.7

7.6

15.2

19.3

22.0

26.8

31.5

0 10 20 30 40

Egremont

Cleator Moor

Whitehaven Area

COPELAND

West Lakes - Copeland

Whithaven Rural Parishes

West Lakes - LDNP

Millom

RATES OF NON-DECENT HOUSING BY AREA

% Non-Decent

Page 13



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 11

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

7. HOME ENERGY EFFICIENCY  

7.1 The house condition survey has been supplemented by a full energy efficiency audit of surveyed 

properties (SAP 2012).  The current average SAP rating for private sector housing in Copeland 

is measured at 64, above the average of 60 for private sector housing in England.  Average CO2 

emissions are 5.22 tonnes per dwelling resulting in total annual CO2 emissions of 132,332 

tonnes.  Average annual running costs for households are estimated at £1,125 resulting in a total 

private sector household annual energy spend of £28.490M.  

7.2 Variations in energy efficiency ratings reflect lower ratings in the West Lakes – LDNP (53.5), West 

Lakes – Copeland (58.1) and Whitehaven Rural Parishes (60.1) sub-areas and for pre-1919 

housing (55.7).  Higher than average SAP ratings are recorded across the Whitehaven Area 

(68.5) and Egremont (67.2) sub areas and in post 1980 dwellings (70.3).   

8. HOUSEHOLD AND HOUSING CONDITIONS 

8.1 Poor housing conditions impact on socially and economically disadvantaged households and in 

particular the elderly and the economically vulnerable:  

 Single person households aged 60 years or over account for 19.5% of all households but 

comprise 24.9% for all households living in non-decent homes;

 Economically vulnerable households comprise 16.4% of all households but account for 

26.7% of all households in non-decent homes;

 Households where the head of household is wholly retired comprise 40.9% of all 

households but account for 51.3% of all households living in non-decent homes; and

 Households on low incomes comprise 17% of all households yet account for 28.5% of all 

households living in non-decent homes 

8.2 The previous Public Service Agreement (PSA) Target 7- Decent Homes implied that 65% of 

vulnerable households would live in Decent homes by 2007, rising to 70% by 2011 and 75% by 

2021.  While the national target was removed some years ago, these previous thresholds still 

provide an important yardstick for private sector renewal strategy.  

8.3 The survey estimates 4,183 vulnerable households representing 16.4% of all private households. 

 Currently 75.4% of economically vulnerable households live in decent homes.  This figure is in 

line with the 2021 target.  

Page 14



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 12

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

8.4 Variations in progress towards achieving decent homes for vulnerable households exist with key 

targets including: 

 Millom HMA where 55.0% of vulnerable households live in decent homes;

 West Lakes – LDNP sub-area where 57.2% of vulnerable households live in decent 

homes; and

 Whitehaven Rural Parishes sub-area where 66.7% of vulnerable households live in 

decent homes.

9. FUEL POVERTY   

9.1 Fuel poverty in England is now measured using a Low Income High Costs framework.  Under this 

definition a household is considered to be fuel poor where: 

 They have required fuel costs that are above average; and 

 Were they to spend that amount they would be left with a residual income below the official 

poverty line. 

9.2 Under this definition, 2,712 private sector households in Copeland (10.7%) have low incomes and 

high fuel costs and are in fuel poverty.  Rates of fuel poverty in Copeland are in line with the 

current average for England (10.6%).  

9.3 Demographically, fuel poverty impacts most strongly on the elderly and lone parent families:

Non Economically Vulnerable
Households

Economically Vulnerable Households
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Decent Homes

Non-Decent Homes

VULNERABLE HOUSEHOLDS IN NON-DECENT HOMES

Households

Page 15



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 13

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

 1,029 households headed by a person aged 65 years or over are in fuel poverty.  This 

represents 10.6% of such households and 38% of all households in fuel poverty;

 17.5% of households with a head of household under 35 are in fuel poverty; and

 58% of lone parent families are in fuel poverty.

9.4 Economically, fuel poverty as might be expected impacts more strongly on households with low 

incomes and on the economically vulnerable.  1,396 economically vulnerable households are in 

fuel poverty representing 33.4% of vulnerable households and 51.5% of all households in fuel 

poverty.  Households in fuel poverty have a median equivalised (AHC) income of £9,605 

compared to a median of £22,960 for households not in fuel poverty.

9.5 Across the housing stock rates of fuel poverty are above average in the private rented sector 

(36.4%) and in the West Lakes – LDNP sub-area (24.6%), Millom HMA (23.5%) and West Lakes 

– Copeland sub-area (20.4%).  

2.2

5.0

8.3

9.1

10.7

20.4

23.5

24.6

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Cleator Moor

Whitehaven
Rural Parishes

Whitehaven Area

Egremont

COPELAND

West Lakes -
Copeland

Millom

West Lakes -
LDNP

RATES OF FUEL POVERTY BY AREA

% Fuel Poor

10. HOUSEHOLD ILLNESS/DISABILITY   

10.1 2,760 households in Copeland (10.8%) indicated that at least one family member was affected 

by a long-term illness or disability.  The most common complaints relate to: 

 Mobility impairment (66.5%);

Page 16



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 14

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

 Heart/circulatory problems (44.4%);

 Other physical disability (40.3%); and

 Respiratory illness (30.2%)

10.2 Household illness/disability is strongly age related.  1,983 households affected by illness/disability 

(71.9%) have a head of household aged 65 years and over.

10.3 The majority of households experiencing illness/disability also experience mobility problems 

within their existing dwelling – 2,229 households (80.7%).  

532 hholds
-19.3%

2,229
hholds -
80.7%

No Mobility
Problems

Mobility
Problems
Present

HOUSEHOLD ILLNESS/DISABILITY AND MOBILITY
PROBLEMS

The most common mobility problems relate to climbing steps and stairs, using bathroom 

amenities and washing/drying clothes.  

10.4 482 households experiencing illness/disability and mobility problems (21.6%) live in dwellings 

which have been adapted, the remaining 1,747 households (78.4%) live in un-adapted dwellings. 

 

10.5 Households experiencing illness/disability were asked if this had resulted in the use of health 

service resources during the past year.  Health service contact in the past year is significant 

among households experiencing illness/disability. 2,171 households (78.7%) have made a 

surgery visit to their GP, 440 households (15.9%) have arranged a GP home visit, and 2,085 

households (75.5%) have attended hospital as an outpatient.  

10.6 222 households (0.9%) stated that a household member had an accident in the home during the 

past year.  The small number of households involved prevents further analysis.  

Page 17



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 15

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

11. DECENT PLACES AND LIVEABILITY    

11.1 Environmental conditions and liveability problems were based on the professional assessment by 

surveyors of problems in the immediate vicinity of the home.  In all, 16 environmental factors were 

assessed and grouped into 3 categories:

UPKEEP – The upkeep, management or misuse of private and public space and buildings.  

Specifically, the presence of: scruffy or neglected buildings, poor condition housing, graffiti, 

scruffy gardens or landscaping, rubbish or dumping, vandalism, dog or other excrement and the 

nuisance from street parking.  

UTILISATION – Abandonment or non-residential use of property.  Specifically: vacant sites, 

vacant or boarded-up buildings and intrusive industry.  

TRAFFIC – Road traffic and other forms of transport.  Specifically: the presence of intrusive main 

roads and motorways, railway or aircraft noise, heavy traffic and poor ambient air quality.  

11.2 Overall, 947 dwellings (3.4%) are located in residential environments experiencing major 

liveability problems.  Problems with upkeep affect 392 dwellings (1.4%), traffic problems affect 

613 dwellings (2.2%) while utilisation issues affect 117 dwellings (0.4%).  

11.3 As an overall assessment surveyors were asked to grade the visual quality of the residential 

environment.  Surveyors assessed the environment as poor or below average in 2,692 dwellings 

(9.7%), as average in 16,136 dwellings (58.2%) and as above average or good in 8,913 dwellings 

(32.1%).  

2,692 dwgs
-9.7%

16,136
dwgs -
58.2%

8,913 dwgs
- 32.1%

Poor/Below
Average

Average

Above
Average/Good

VISUAL ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

Page 18



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 16

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

Below average visual environmental quality issues are more significant in areas of private rental 

and pre-1919 housing.  At an area level, they are more significant in Millom HMA.  

12. HOUSEHOLD ATTITUDES TO HOUSING AND LOCAL AREAS    

12.1 Housing satisfaction levels are good.  18,154 households (71.4%) are very satisfied with their 

current home, an additional 6,928 households (27.2%) are quite satisfied.  Only 357 households 

(1.4%) expressed direct dissatisfaction with their home.  

71.4%

27.2%

1.4%

Very
Satisfied

Quite
Satisfied

Dissastisfied

HOUSEHOLD ATTITUDES TO CURRENT HOUSING

12.2 Household satisfaction with their local areas is also high.  17,627 households (69.3%) are very 

satisfied with the area in which they live, an additional 7,242 households are quite satisfied 

(28.5%) and 570 households (2.3%) expressed dissatisfaction with their local area.  The majority 

of households – 20,506 households (80.6%) – regard their area as unchanging over the last five 

years; 3,055 households (12%) think their local area has improved while 1,878 households (7.4%) 

think their local area has declined.  Perceptions of area decline are above average in the Millom 

and West Lakes - LDNP sub-areas; perceptions of area improvement are significantly stronger 

in the Whitehaven Rural Parishes than elsewhere.  

13. OWNER OCCUPIED HOUSEHOLDS  

13.1 3,004 owner occupied households (13.8%) live in homes which are non-decent. 712 households 

in this sector (23.7%) are economically vulnerable, 1,089 households (36.3%) while not 

economically vulnerable have a head of household aged 65 or over and 292 households (9.7%) 

while not economically vulnerable are families with children.  

Page 19



David Adamson & Partners Ltd. Page | 17

HEADLINE SURVEY REPORT 

13.2 Economic factors will influence the ability of owner occupiers to improve their homes but other 

factors will also impact.  58.2% of owner occupied households in non-decent homes are very 

satisfied with their current home; only 35.4% have completed major repairs or improvements over 

the last five years and only 19.1% intend to carry out repairs or improvements in the next 5 years. 

 71.9% of owner occupied households in non-decent homes have no existing financial 

commitments against their property indicating high levels of potential equity.  However only 6.1% 

of owner occupiers living in non-decent homes indicated that they would re-mortgage or otherwise 

use the value of their home to carry out repairs/improvements.  Interest in affordable/low cost 

loans for home improvement provided by the Council are of greater interest to owners in non-

decent homes: 335 households (11.2%) are interested.  

14. THE WAY FORWARD 

14.1 This report has presented the headline findings to emerge from the 2016 Private Sector House 

Condition Survey Programme.  Following discussion of these findings with the Council a detailed 

main report of survey will be prepared and survey data made available in electronic format.  

Page 20



Strategic Housing Panel 230317

Private Sector Team Disabled Facilities Grants

Lead Officer: Julie Betteridge, Director of Customer and Community Services
Report Author: Kate Turner, Strategic Housing and Development Officer

Introduction

Copeland Borough Council have a legal duty to provide statutory grants for eligible works to 
meet the care and mobility needs of people with disabilities in the Borough.  This enables 
them to live independently, safely and with privacy and dignity.  Where residents have a 
disability, we work with them and other agencies to arrange adaptations or provide advice 
about moving to more suitable accommodation. 

Background

The maximum grant is £30,000.  This is available to home owners and private tenants.  
Although discretionary grants are available we do not have the resources to provide these 
unless in exceptional circumstances.  All applicants are ‘means tested’ for eligibility.  

Regulatory Framework

‘Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996’ (The Act) as amended.

Historically, Copeland Borough Council received funding direct from the DCLG.  Since the 
introduction of ‘The ‘Better Care Act 2014’ this has changed.  Now Cumbria County Council 
receive the funding and allocate funding to each Authority to enable them to meet the 
statutory duty to provide adaptations.   

In total Cumbria received £4,918,895.  Copeland Borough Council receive £569,515.00.  This 
figure is broken down as shown below.

There are greater freedoms for helping customers under the ‘Better Care Fund’, Copeland 
have pioneered this by being the first across the County to have enabled a family with a 
disabled child to move home and enable care to continue. 

The second part of this good news is that this families new home was pre-adapted through a 
grant in 2014.  This case has been a great example of making the most of capital resources.   

150 new recommendations were sent through by the Occupational Therapists from April 1st 
2016. In 2015-16 there were 117.   The graph below shows the new referrals split into 
quarters.  

Allerdale 952,794
Barrow-in-Furness 974,972
Carlisle 1,467,316
Copeland 569,515
Eden 372,850
South Lakeland 581,448

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



40 – Quarter 1
44 – Quarter 2
40 – Quarter 3
26 – Quarter 4

Bathroom adaptations are still showing as the main need for adaptation.  The rise in ground 
floor extensions shows that adaptions are needed as their property is inadequate.  Our 
stock condition survey shows Copeland have an ageing population but a lack of bungalows.   

Where an extension is required, the team are finding that the maximum grant limit of 
£30,000. does not cover the cost of providing this.  

The graph below shows the breakdown of tenure for applications.  

Due to high level of benefit dependency, 95% of customers are passported for the grant.  
percentage of applicants. 

41

14

28

15

11

3

13

12

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45

Wet Floor Shower
Area

Extension

Multiple
adaptations

Curved Stairlift

Straight Stairlift

Through Floor
Lift

Ramped Access

Other

Recommendations 2016-17

50%
43%

4%
1%
1% Owner

Home Group

Private

Two Castles

Impact
Housing

Recommendations breakdown 2016-17

40

44

40

26

150

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160

Quarter 1

Quarter 2

Quarter 3

Quarter 4

Total

New Referrals 2016-17

Page 22



At a recent meeting to discuss DFG’s Copeland Borough Council was the only Authority to 
have seen an increase in new recommendations.  Other Authorities were able to provide 
discretionary grants where funding limits were reached.    

The team have approvals 96 cases of major adaptations.  This figure has stayed level 
(Approvals 2015-16 – 95).

There have been 73 cases completed.

Commitment

Until the new financial year, the team have had to put any further grant approvals on hold 
until 1st April 2017 as all funding is committed to provide adaptations. 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Strategic Housing Panel 230317

Empty Homes Initiative Update

LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Director of Customer and Community Services
REPORT AUTHOR: Gillian Reid, Empty Homes Officer

Letters & questionnaires sent to owners of empty properties to establish the reason why the 
properties are empty and, where possible help to bring these homes back into use.  (Owner details 
are provided by Council Tax data)

30 were sent to owners of Long Term Empty Premium properties (empty for over 2 years)
43 were to owners of Long Term Empty classed C (empty for over 3 months but under 2 years)

48 replies received resulting in 21 properties no longer classed as empty.

Quarter 1   0 Properties brought back into use     
Quarter 2   3 Properties brought back into use     
Quarter 3 14 Properties brought back into use     
Quarter 4   4 Properties brought back into use

    

25 of these owners were repairing in order to sell or rent after completion of the works.

Some key ideas for 2017/18 

Produce a list of Hot Spot areas within the Borough and prioritise, considering level of nuisance 
caused, the condition of the property, length of time empty and could it be an easy win.  

Explore the potential for private funding initiatives to bring empty homes into use.

Work alongside the Housing Development Officer on the Community Housing Fund project.

Attend Locality Planning Meetings to identify empty properties that have a negative impact on the 
area and offer advice to empty property owners.  

Work with Communications Team to produce a guide/information booklet for empty property 
owners and keep our Website updated.

Look into the possibility of using an LTEP in Millom as a TA Unit for HOT.  (Currently we have nothing 
to offer our customers who present in Millom as homeless)

On-going

Continue to make contact with empty property owners by means of questionnaires/visits.

Shadow Environmental Health Officers as they serve notices on empty properties and undertake any 
training that is required.

Continue to investigate complaints from members of the public, external agencies and other 
departments within the council.

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY HOUSING FUND SUMMARY COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL

Page 1 of 3

Community Housing Fund – summary of spending plans

Copeland Borough Council  –  March 2017 

Intended use of the Fund – revenue support to groups  
We will ensure resources are available for groups to access specialist support to explore and 
develop a range of models and opportunities.  We have one group in a position to access this funding 
quickly and anticipate at least one other in the first year able to use these resources to explore ideas.  We 
see this funding as an opportunity for local groups including parishes to explore an approach that 
encourages creative and locally relevant solutions alongside enabling capacity building.  In 
Copeland we will need to direct resources to encourage engagement and identify communities 
willing to engage and then ensure access to technical support.   We will procure a technical team 
framework either in Copeland specifically or through a joint approach in Cumbria.  Groups will be 
able to request technical support resources either through this framework or to procure their own advice 
and professional support.  We are keen to ensure communities are assisted with viability and feasibility 
studies relating to projects, particularly where there is no or limited existing capacity locally within the 
community led model being developed.   We will aim to link with other funds to ensure best use of this
resource. 

Intended use of the Fund – capital 
Copeland has an aspiration set out in its housing strategy to strengthen our housing mix to underpin 
sustainable settlements.  Our community led housing plan expects to enable two additional homes in the 
first year, and another two to four in the next two years.  It is difficult to state this with certainty at this 
stage as it relies on a range of local factors which have yet to be mobilised.

Recognising that the first year is more around capacity building, awareness, investigation of 
opportunities and early development we have one project that we expect a community group to 
develop in Eskdale Valley refurbishing an existing building to provide two homes.  We expect to provide 
enabling and refurbishment grants and technical assistance in this first year.
We anticipate the spend on capital will increase year on year and will be used for a creative and locally 
relevant mix of affordable housing, mixed tenure and key worker accommodation. Our plan will:

 Look at opportunities where small sites have been allocated in Copeland and the Lake 
District National Park local plans which could benefit from this approach;

 Help to secure land or building opportunities and enabling grants to progress;
 Contribute and offer catalyst funding for a range of routes and mechanisms including

o Rural developments of under 4 units;
o Renovations or sub dividing existing properties possibly on a co-housing or 

partnership approach;
o Bringing empty homes into a community led approach and into permanent 

residential use;
o Local land purchase and banking within a community – this could be via 

Community land trust approaches in a small distinct neighbourhood or across a 
wider area of the borough;

o A vehicle to encourage landowners to release land where perpetuity of tenure can 
be assured;

o Linking with existing developers, social, community and private.

We would like to use the fund to create a small revolving loan fund to enable a sustainable approach for 
this limited resource and where other partners, including Moorside and other growth opportunities, may 
be able to engage in assisting and sustaining this approach.  This will be considered during the first year of 
activity.  In particular, we will aim for some capital grant to be repaid and recycled if some schemes are part 
funded by market housing cross subsidy sales.

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



COMMUNITY HOUSING FUND SUMMARY COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL

Page 2 of 3

Intended use of the Fund – joint plans across your sub-region
Early discussions between the four Cumbrian districts receiving the funding, the local rural community 
service body, ACT (Action in Cumbria), and the Lake District National Park has highlighted a potential for a 
collaborative community housing hub approach, including digital on line resources.  We are currently 
sharing information, materials, case examples and good practice.  We expect joint plans to be developed 
during the first year of delivery which may include a shared enabling service.

Advice obtained
We have linked with ACT and a community led housing and CLT (community land trust) specialist to 
investigate the opportunities and opportunities from this resource and develop this plan.   This specialist 
CLT adviser, affiliated to the CLT Network, has provided case input in line with the previous role as CLT 
Officer for Cumbria leading to around 50 CLT homes.  The information and support in preparing our 
approach picked up a range of support around CLH models, funding, company forms, approach to viability, 
CLT Network support which will be part of the Hub approach needed as we implement.   
We are linking and working with the Lake District National Park where we have specific affordability issues 
in our deep rural settlements.  We will be discussing our CLH approach at three key partnership meetings to 
share and shape the detail of the Plan and finalise the delivery arrangements for 2017/18.  These are the 
Copeland Housing Partnership with our RPs and other housing partners and our three tier and locality 
partnerships building on the locality and community planning framework in the borough.  

Existing local activity
There are currently no CLH groups in Copeland.  There has been a successful self-build scheme with housing 
association affordable element on Council owned land in Whitehaven.  We are aware of a) community
planning ideas and discussions at parish level, b) a community based scheme within Eskdale and c) local 
exploration of housing requirements around older persons and extra care in some areas.   Our recently 
established self-build register currently has a small number of interested individuals.  

Intended use of the Fund – developing your plans for the fund 
We recognise the value of community led housing as an opportunity within all our neighbourhoods 
particularly our smaller rural settlements.  Identifying early interventions will be key to 
building local confidence as will ensuring capacity building and technical resources are available.  In scoping 
Copeland issues we are keen to use the resource on solution focussed approaches.  

In the first year, we will focus on a borough wide awareness promotion and focused community 
engagement using our existing community/ locality infrastructure.   We plan to recruit a project worker to 
provide the necessary capacity to drive this agenda and engagement approach.   This will enable residents 
and communities to a) seriously consider the opportunity of a community led housing approach; 
b) build capacity with local groups interested in developing themselves to be able to set up and run a 
project and c) link within and across localities to progress ideas and development plans.  

We will develop written resources and events to ensure community groups, Parish and Town Councils have 
a good understanding of the full range of community led housing and link to local project development 
support from specialists and partner organisations to scope projects.  All these resources will be through a 
hub basis at Copeland or developed at a Cumbria level.  The hub would at its core have access to personnel 
available to a) build community knowledge / identify need and possible projects, and b) link to 
development expertise.   Housing providers would be available to provide additional project development 
in partnership as required.

We intend to follow this boroughwide approach with targeted engagement, support and delivery to areas 
where second homes are a challenge for the sustainability of the community.  Having mapped our second 
home data we are aware that we have issues linked to second homes as worker accommodation for 
individuals employed in the nuclear sector in Copeland.  We plan to explore development activity by the 
project worker in those areas where we have both empty and second home impact.

Page 28



COMMUNITY HOUSING FUND SUMMARY COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL

Page 3 of 3

By the end of the first year, we will use our engagement outcome and development activity to set out a 
clear policy position and pipeline of actions and targeted developments for the remaining four years of the 
funding.

Other plans
Empty homes are of concern to a number of neighbourhoods and we have used HCA resources in recent 
years to bring two bungalows back into residential.  We have an existing worker, funded through New 
Homes Bonus, focused on this activity to complement and inform this plan.

We will use our joint working arrangements on our growth and housing enabling activity particularly with 
local social landlords to explore ideas with community groups and link to local landlords such as local 
alms-houses and the National Trust in working within neighbourhoods in the first year to promote and 
identify potential schemes.

We have good local links through our existing infrastructure and anticipate minimal use of the fund 
to broker linkages and partnership working.  We will use the project worker, linking with our procured
specialist advisers, to develop materials, case studies and facilitate local investigations.  These will help to 
widen the opportunities for community led housing, catalysed by this funding, from other growth 
opportunities within the borough. 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 15 December 2016
	4 Private Sector Housing Condition Survey 2016
	5 Performance Update
	6 Empty Homes Initiative update
	7 Copeland Community Led Housing Initiative

